Rapid Review

Publicly funded pneumococcal vaccine programs and monitoring vaccine coverage for Canadian adults

Umar I., Roerig M., Ahmed S., Selvaraj A., Nasreen S., Allin, S., & Fadel, S.

February 2024





This report was produced by the North American Observatory on Health Systems and Policies, with funding support from the 2019–2020 Connaught Global Challenge Award, bestowed to the University of Toronto. The views expressed by the authors are not intended to represent the views of the North American Observatory on Health Systems and Policies.





Suggested citation

Umar, I., Roerig, M., Ahmed, S., Selvaraj, A., Nasreen, S., Allin, S., & Fadel, S. (2024). Publicly funded pneumococcal vaccine programs and monitoring vaccine coverage for Canadian adults. Toronto: North American Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. *Rapid Review* (No. 42).

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to James Kellner, Allison McGeer, Ramandip Grewal, Nicholas Brousseau, Fawziah Lalji, Eva Wong, Nayaar Islam, Sarah Wilson, Adalsteinn Brown, and Natasha Crowcroft for their consultation and/or review of earlier versions of this report. We also thank Patrick Farrell for copyediting support. Finally, we acknowledge funding support from the 2019-2020 Connaught Global Challenge Award.

About

The North American Observatory on Health Systems and Policies (NAO) is a collaborative partnership of interested researchers, research organizations, governments, and health organizations promoting evidence-informed health system policy decision-making.

© North American Observatory on Health Systems and Policies 2024

Contact Information

North American Observatory on Health Systems and Policies 155 College Street, Suite 425 Toronto, ON M5T 3M6



www.naohealthobservatory.ca



naobservatory@utoronto.ca



nao_health

Contents

List of Abbreviations	ii
Executive Summary	1
Introduction & Background	2
Methods	4
Analytic Overview	5
Pneumococcal Vaccine Eligibility	5
Pneumococcal Vaccine Coverage Monitoring/Surveillance Across PTs	10
Considerations of Equity in Pneumococcal Vaccine Population Eligibility & Vaccine Monitoring	11
Conclusions	13
References	14
Appendix A. Case Study Summaries, Vaccine Eligibility	19
British Columbia	19
Alberta	21
Saskatchewan	24
Manitoba	26
Ontario	29
Quebec	31
New Brunswick	33
Nova Scotia	35
Prince Edward Island	37
Newfoundland and Labrador	39
Yukon	41
Northwest Territories	43
Nunavut	45
Appendix B. Monitoring and Surveillance of Pneumococcal Vaccines	47

List of Abbreviations

CSF cerebrospinal fluid

HSCT hematopoietic stem cell transplant

IPD Invasive pneumococcal disease

NACI National Advisory Committee on Immunization

PCV13 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine

PCV15 15-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine

PCV20 20-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine

PPV23 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine

PT Province and territory, or provinces and territories



Executive Summary

Considered within the top-10 leading causes of death in Canada (Statistics Canada, 2022), pneumonia can lead to serious complications such as invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) (Drijkoningen & Rohde, 2014; Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023e). Older adults (Nasreen et al., 2021), adults that are immunosuppressed, and older adults living in long-term care facilities bear the largest burden for pneumococcal disease (Cafiero-Fonseca et al., 2017). Canada's National Advisory Committee on Immunization (NACI) recommends pneumococcal vaccines at certain dose schedules for adults based on their risk for IPD. There are currently four pneumococcal vaccines authorized for adult usage in Canada: 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine (PPV23); 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV13); 15-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV15); and 20-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV20) (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023c). However, there is variability in how provinces and territories (PTs) publicly fund pneumococcal vaccines for eligible adults and in how jurisdictions monitor vaccine coverage. We conducted a rapid review to document and compare the eligibility criteria of publicly funded adult pneumococcal vaccine programs across PTs to the 2016 NACI recommendations on pneumococcal vaccination in adults; and also to document and compare how pneumococcal vaccine coverage is monitored across PTs.

Our summarized findings indicate that many PTs in Canada align with the 2016 NACI recommendations on population eligibility and dose schedules for publicly funded pneumococcal vaccines, with differences found in British Columbia, Manitoba, Ontario, Quebec, New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, Northwest Territories, and Nunavut. Additionally, smoking as a lifestyle factor was not considered in most PTs' eligibility criteria, despite NACI recommendation. Furthermore, only six PTs had publicly available information on pneumococcal vaccine monitoring. Of these, Manitoba and Quebec were the only PTs that reported some level of data disaggregation of sociodemographic factors related to pneumococcal vaccine uptake/coverage.

Based on our findings and the updated NACI guidelines we list the following recommendations for future research and considerations for PTs:

- 1. Continue to monitor changes across PTs and undertake cost-effectiveness analyses for publicly funded PCV15 and PCV20 immunization programs for adults.
- 2. Examine the possible impacts of these changes on pneumococcal disease, including possible impacts from any associated delays in implementing NACI recommendations.
- 3. Continue to prioritize eligibility for populations at high risk for IPD in publicly funded pneumococcal vaccine programs.
- 4. Prioritize research that investigates outreach and access of publicly funded pneumococcal vaccines for adults with high risk for IPD that may not have consistent encounters with or face barriers to accessing healthcare services (e.g., adults with social risk factors, adults in rural or remote locations etc.).
- 5. Improve public accessibility of PT-wide adult pneumococcal vaccine monitoring and surveillance, ensuring data disaggregation of sociodemographic factors that can be further studied to discern equitable uptake for various populations.



Introduction & Background

Evidence has shown the importance of vaccination to prevent premature mortality, reduce healthcare costs, and enhance quality of life (Stancu et al., 2023). Despite its importance for healthy aging, the immunization of adults remains an under-researched area of public health as many vaccination programs primarily target children (Doherty et al., 2019). In the absence of a national vaccine registry in Canada, adult vaccine coverage is measured through country-wide immunization surveys conducted every two years by the Public Health Agency of Canada, as well as province and territory-wide surveillance in some jurisdictions to monitor vaccination coverage goals (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023d; Wilson et al., 2016). Among Canadian adults, immunization coverage for many key vaccines is below national targets (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023b). For example, a national survey from 2020–2021 reported vaccine coverage rates of 40% for influenza, 34% for pertussis, and 27% for shingles among adults aged 50 years and older (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2022). Of particular concern is the low uptake of pneumococcal vaccines among eligible adult populations in Canada. Although the national pneumococcal vaccination coverage goal for adults aged 65 years and older is 80%, only 55% of adults in this age group reported receiving the pneumococcal vaccine in 2021, with the rate of uptake dropping further to 26% among eligible adults aged 18–64 due to underlying or chronic medical conditions (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2021).

Pneumococcal disease, caused by *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, can lead to serious complications such as bacteremia and meningitis in cases of invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD) (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023e); Pneumonia is in the top ten leading causes of death in Canada (Statistics Canada, 2022). The Ontario Burden of Infectious Disease Study reported pneumonia as the most "burdensome infectious disease syndrome in terms of the years and quality-of-life lost to infection" (O'Reilly et al., 2023). Older adults (Nasreen et al., 2021), adults that are immunosuppressed and/or have comorbidities, and older adults living in long-term care facilities bear the biggest burden for pneumococcal disease (Cafiero-Fonseca et al., 2017).

There are currently four pneumococcal vaccines authorized for adult usage in Canada, with some variability in how they are used and monitored across the country. The four vaccines are: 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine (PPV23), authorized in 1983; 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV13), authorized in 2009; 15-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV15) authorized in 2021; and 20-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV20) authorized in 2022 (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023c). Recommendations on pneumococcal vaccine administration are made by the National Advisory Committee on Immunization (NACI)—a federal advisory committee that publishes recommendations for the use of vaccines and identifies at-risk populations that should be targeted in vaccination programs (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023a). Since the 1980s, NACI has been making recommendations for the use of pneumococcal vaccines in adults based on their risk for IPD, which are described in the *Canadian Immunization Guide for Health Professionals* (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023c, 2016). Importantly, these recommendations are advisory in nature, with provinces and territories (PTs) responsible for designing and delivering their immunization programs. Some PTs have immunization committees (e.g., Quebec and Ontario) that provide provincial recommendations when new vaccines are considered for publicly funded programs, including operational considerations like budget, training, and vaccine supply.

Therefore, there is variability in how PTs publicly fund pneumococcal vaccines for eligible adults (Sulis et al., 2022) and in how jurisdictions monitor vaccine coverage. One of the many reasons why adults remain unvaccinated for pneumococcal disease is a lack of awareness of their eligibility to receive publicly funded vaccination (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2022). Thus, it is important to understand who is eligible across



PTs. It is also important to understand if and how PTs are tracking adult pneumococcal vaccine coverage, and if coverage data are disaggregated by factors that could be further studied to assess if vaccine uptake is equitable. For example, the national immunization survey *Vaccine Uptake in Canadian Adults 2021* disaggregated pneumococcal vaccine coverage by broad age groups, gender, and declaration of a chronic medical condition (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2022). In this rapid review, we aim to document and compare the eligibility of publicly funded adult pneumococcal vaccines, and document and compare how pneumococcal vaccine coverage is monitored and tracked across PTs.



Methods

A rapid environmental scan was conducted to explore and document the: i) population eligibility of publicly funded pneumococcal vaccine programs for adults (aged 18 and older) across all Canadian PTs; and ii) the availability of monitoring measures related to pneumococcal vaccine coverage across all PTs. A literature search using Google search engine was conducted in May–August 2023; key terms used in the search included "pneumococcal or pneumonia vaccine", "vaccine eligibility", "publicly funded vaccine" and "vaccine monitoring and surveillance" across all Canadian PTs. The search resulted in screening across government health and immunization authorities' websites, including the Public Health Agency of Canada, NACI, and PT public health and immunization authorities. We excluded literature on individual immunization records access and vaccine inventory and distribution.

Case summaries were created for each PT from publicly available sources outlining population eligibility for publicly funded pneumococcal vaccine programs as of August 2023, and if and how pneumococcal vaccine coverage is monitored across PTs. Information about population eligibility and dose scheduling for pneumococcal vaccines in each PT were extracted and directly compared to the 2016 NACI guidelines on adult pneumococcal vaccination from the *Canadian Immunization Guide* (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016). The case summaries were shared with local experts to validate findings and fill any knowledge gaps. Experts were contacted by email to provide feedback and additional sources to supplement findings. Four provincial case studies (British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario, and Quebec) were reviewed and validated by local experts.

Limitations

There are a few limitations to consider for this review. First, expert validation of the case summary reports was only received from local experts in British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario, and Quebec. We were unable to successfully contact experts from other jurisdictions, and thus relied on publicly available information when experts in other jurisdictions were not available to verify the accuracy of the findings. Second, some of the sources were only available in French and were translated into English by a team member (AS) with a working level of French and Google Translate. Therefore, some information may not have been precisely translated when collecting the data. Third, many of the PTs did not classify eligible medical conditions listed by NACI as "immunocompromising" and "non-immunocompromising"; our team assessed each condition individually to determine its immunocompromising status by using clinical sources and advice from team members with expertise in immunology. Therefore, our findings could have discrepancies in immune classifications compared to how some jurisdictions classify such conditions.

Finally, we reference NACI's recommendations published in 2016 for pneumococcal vaccines to compare population and vaccine eligibility across PTs. We acknowledge that these recommendations were updated in February 2023 to include the use of PCV15 and PCV20 following Health Canada authorization in 2021 and 2022, respectively (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023c). However, as of August 2023, Quebec was the only PT to publicly fund and provide recommendations for the use of PCV20 for certain adult populations. Since PCV20 was not yet publicly funded across all other PTs, the 2016 NACI recommendations for pneumococcal vaccines were used to compare population and vaccine eligibility across jurisdictions, and to help inform PT policy responses to the updated NACI PCV15 and PCV20 recommendations.



Analytic Overview

The pneumococcal vaccines PPV23 and PCV13 are widely used across PTs in publicly funded vaccination programs; as of August 2023, Quebec is the only jurisdiction that publicly funds PCV20 for immunocompromised adults (Santé et Services Sociaux Québec, 2023a). Prior to the authorization of PCV13, PCV15, and PCV20, NACI recommended the use of PPV23 for adult populations that faced risk of IPD. In 2013, NACI recommended PCV13 in series with PPV23 for adults with immunocompromising conditions at high risk for IPD (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023c). Subsequently, PPV23 was recommended for most eligible adults as part of routine immunization programs, and PCV13 was recommended for targeted groups.

As of 2016, NACI recommended PPV23 and PCV13 in various dose schedules for the following populations:

- adults aged 65 years and older (1 dose of PPV23),
- adults younger than age 65 living in long-term care facilities (1 dose of PPV23),
- adults less than age 65 with a non-immunocompromising medical condition (1 dose of PPV23 and 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later for people at highest risk for IPD),
- adults with an immunocompromising medical condition (1 dose of PCV13; 1 dose of PPV23 at least 8
 weeks after PCV13 and 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least five years later; various doses of PPV23 and
 PCV13 for hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients), and
- adults younger than age 65 who smoke, experience alcoholism¹, use illicit drugs, and experience homelessness (1 dose of PPV23) (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016, 2023c).

Below, we summarize and highlight key findings on publicly funded pneumococcal vaccine eligibility across all PTs in comparison to the 2016 NACI recommendations (**Tables 1 and 2**). Detailed eligibility criteria for each PT can be found in **Appendix A**. We also highlight key findings on the availability of monitoring/surveillance measures related to pneumococcal vaccine coverage across all PTs (**Table 3**). Detailed information on pneumococcal vaccine monitoring for British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario, and Quebec can be found in **Appendix B**. Finally, we synthesize recommendations for future research and considerations for PTs regarding publicly funded pneumococcal vaccines.

Pneumococcal Vaccine Eligibility

Most of the PTs' population and vaccine eligibility criteria are aligned with NACI recommendations. As shown in **Table 1**, alignment is particularly highlighted in Alberta, Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island and Yukon across the main population groupings, and all PTs for the eligibility of PPV23 for adults aged 65+. There are some differences between the PT's eligibility and NACI recommendations, which are grouped as booster dose-related differences (blue, symbolized with a diamond); primary dose-related differences (purple, symbolized with a star); and differences of both the primary and booster doses (red, symbolized with an "X"). Booster and primary dose-related differences are characterized by variability of eligibility based on age and/or condition that are recommended by NACI. In some instances, eligibility criteria were unclear or information could not found. The following sections detail the main similarities and differences across PTs for publicly funded pneumococcal vaccine programs as compared to 2016 NACI recommendations. Detailed eligibility criteria for each PT can be found in **Appendix A**.

¹ The 2023 NACI guidelines replace the term "alcoholism" with "alcohol use disorder." As our report references the 2016 guidelines, we use the term "alcoholism" throughout the findings.



Adults aged 65 years and older & adults in long-term care facilities

All PTs publicly fund one dose of PPV23 for adults aged 65 years and older, with the exception of Nunavut that has a lower age threshold of adults aged 50 years and older (Nunavut Department of Health, 2017). For adults younger than 65 in long-term care facilities, most jurisdictions fund one dose of PPV23, except for Quebec that does not publicly fund this population; eligibility for PPV23 in the Northwest Territories and Nunavut could not be determined.

Adults with non-immunocompromising conditions

Most PTs align with NACI recommendations by publicly funding one dose of PPV23 for adults with a non-immunocompromising condition, followed by a booster dose at least five years after the initial dose for conditions deemed at highest risk of IPD. The *Canadian Immunization Guide* also states that a dose of pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (e.g., PCV13) can be given prior to PPV23 administration for some conditions at high risk for IPD, based on an expert's recommendation (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016). In New Brunswick and Nova Scotia, there was a lack of information on PPV23 booster eligibility (Government of New Brunswick, n.d.-b; Nova Scotia Health Authority, 2019). Some differences in PT eligibility compared with NACI recommendations include Manitoba restricting PPV23 booster dose eligibility only to adults aged 65 years and older with certain conditions (Manitoba Health, 2023), and Northwest Territories' lack of specificity on what conditions are eligible for primary and booster PPV23 doses (Government of Northwest Territories, 2023a). Furthermore, Newfoundland and Labrador excluded two medical conditions for PPV23 eligibility that NACI identified as resulting in high risk of IPD (chronic cerebrospinal fluid [CSF leak] and chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions) (Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, 2019).

Adults with immunocompromising conditions

For adults with immunocompromising conditions, NACI recommends one dose of PCV13 followed by one dose of PPV23 at least eight weeks later, and one booster dose of PPV23 at least five years later; NACI also recommends adult hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipients to receive two extra doses of PCV13 (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016). Many PTs align with NACI recommendations, with some jurisdictions deviating in the types of conditions considered eligible for both vaccines. For example, in British Columbia only people with HIV infections and HSCT recipients are eligible for PCV13; all other immunocompromising conditions are eligible for PPV23 only (BC Centre for Disease Control, 2023). In Ontario, adults with immunocompromising conditions are only eligible for PCV13 if they are aged 50 years and older, while adults younger than 50 with immunocompromising conditions are eligible for PPV23 (Government of Ontario, 2022). Furthermore in Nunavut, PCV13 is not publicly funded for any condition; only PPV23 is publicly funded for immunocompromised adults (Nunavut Department of Health, 2014). Additionally, Manitoba and New Brunswick publicly fund PCV13 for only a limited number of conditions; all other immunocompromising conditions recommended by NACI are eligible for PPV23 (Manitoba Health, 2023; Government of New Brunswick, n.d.-b).

Moreover, Quebec recently updated their guidelines in January 2023 to publicly fund PCV20 for immunocompromising conditions (Ministère de la Santé et des Services Sociaux, 2023); PCV20 replaced the use of both PCV13 and PPV23 for all immunocompromising conditions. It is important to note that the 2023 NACI guidelines recommend the use of PCV20 for certain adult populations (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023c), but as stated previously, our review references the 2016 recommendations as all PTs aside from Quebec do not yet currently publicly fund PCV20.



TABLE 1. Population and pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for adults across PTs compared to 2016 NACI recommendations as of August 2023 (excluding lifestyle factors)

			POPULATION &	DOSE SCHEDULES (NACI GUIDELINES)				
	Adults 65+	Adults <65	Adults with non-	Adults with immunocompromising conditions				
PTs	PPV23:1 dose	years in long term care facilities PPV23: 1 dose	immunocompromising conditions PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster at least 5 years later for conditions at highest risk for IPD	PCV13: 1 dose ^A	PPV23: 1 dose at least 8 weeks after PCV13 + 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later			
ВС	✓	✓	✓	☆ Only two conditions are eligible	✓			
AB	✓	✓	✓ 2 conditions are also eligible for 1 dose of PCV13	✓	✓			
SK	✓	✓	✓	✓	♦ Only some conditions are eligible for booster			
МВ	✓	✓	♦ Only adults 65+ are eligible for booster	☆ Only certain conditions are eligible	 Only adults 65+ with certain conditions are eligible for booster 			
ON	✓	✓	✓	☆ Only adults 50+ are eligible	✓			
QC	√	x	☆ Nephrotic syndrome is also eligible for 1 dose + 1 booster ^p	☆ PCV20 replaced used of PCV13 and PPV23 for all immunocompromising conditions	X PCV20 replaced use of PCV13 and PPV23 for all immunocompromising conditions; a booster dose of PPV23 is not required following administration of PCV20			
NB	✓	✓	√ B	☆ Only certain conditions are eligible	√ B			
NS	✓	✓	√ B	✓	√ B			
PE	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓			
NL	✓	√	2 conditions excluded/ineligible; 1 additional condition is eligible for 1 dose of PCV13	✓	√ B,C			
YU	✓	✓	✓	✓	√ 3 rd dose may be administered after age 65			
NT	✓	ND	Conditions at risk for IPD are eligible; however, no conditions are specified	☆ (Conditions listed by Canadian Immunization Guide are eligible; however, no conditions are specified)	☆ Conditions at risk for IPD are eligible; however, no conditions are specified			
NU	☆ Adults 50+	ND	✓	X	√ B			



Legend:

✓	No difference between PT eligibility and NACI recommendations
♦	Population and vaccine eligibility differences for booster dose
☆	Population and vaccine eligibility differences for primary dose
Х	PT eligibility does not align with NACI recommendations (primary and booster dose differences)
ND	Not determined – Unclear if population is eligible

Notes:

Many of the PTs did not classify eligible medical conditions listed by NACI as "immunocompromising" and "non-immunocompromising." Further information on the categorization of medical conditions listed by each jurisdiction is detailed in the case summaries in **Appendix A**.

- A Adult HSCT recipients are recommended to have 3 doses of PCV13 3–9 months post-transplant & 1 dose of PPV23 12–18 months post-transplant.
- ^B Booster eligibility not found.
- ^c Some immunocompromising conditions are not specified (i.e., listed as general "immunosuppression").
- D NACI categorizes nephrotic syndrome under immunocompromising conditions, while Quebec categorizes nephrotic syndrome under chronic kidney diseases; hence, nephrotic syndrome is eligible for PPV23 in Quebec.



Adults with lifestyle factors at risk for IPD

NACI recommends PPV23 for certain lifestyle factors² at risk for IPD, including alcoholism, smoking, and homelessness; NACI also states that illicit drug use should be considered for PPV23 vaccination (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016). As shown in Table 2 below, most jurisdictions publicly fund PPV23 for alcoholism/alcohol use disorder (10 PTs), homelessness (9 PTs), and illicit drug use (9 PTs). Interestingly, only two jurisdictions (Prince Edward Island and Yukon) publicly fund PPV23 for smoking, and are also the only PTs that explicitly state PPV23 eligibility for all four factors (Health PEI, 2017; Government of Yukon, 2022). Conversely, no lifestyle factors are eligible for PPV23 in Nunavut and Ontario (Nunavut Department of Health, 2018; Government of Ontario, 2022). In September 2023, the Ontario Immunization Advisory Committee released recommendations supporting NACI's guidelines that a pneumococcal vaccine should be recommended for populations with social risk factors including those who smoke, who use unregulated drugs, with alcohol use disorder, and who are unhoused/ underhoused (Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion [Public Health Ontario], 2023). However, as of September 2023, no changes have been made to the publicly funded program regarding social risk factors. Lastly, we could not determine whether any lifestyle factors are eligible in the Northwest Territories as public sources only states that adults "at risk for invasive pneumococcal disease" are eligible for PPV23 (Government of Northwest Territories, 2023a).

TABLE 2. Population eligibility criteria of lifestyle factors at risk for IPD recommended/considered by 2016 NACI guidelines for one dose of PPV23 across PTs

Lifestyle							PTs						
factors in NACI Guidelines	ВС	AB	SK	МВ	ON	QC	NS	NL	NB	PE	YU	NT	NU
Alcoholism	✓	✓	✓	✓	Χ	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	✓	NDF	Χ
Smoking	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	Χ	✓	√E	NDF	Χ
Homelessness	✓	✓A	\checkmark	✓	Χ	\checkmark	\checkmark	Χ	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	NDF	Χ
Illicit drug use	✓	✓B	√ C	\checkmark	Χ	√ D	\checkmark	Χ	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	NDF	Χ

Legend:

\checkmark	Population and vaccine eligibility align with NACI guidelines
Χ	Population and vaccine eligibility do not align with NACI guidelines
ND	Not determined–unclear if population is eligible

Notes:

- ^A Living in homeless/chronically disadvantaged situations (e.g., no address or home, staying in shelters, cars etc.) (Alberta Health Services, 2023).
- ^B Illicit injection drug use (Alberta Health Services, 2023).
- ^C Substance use: illicit non-injection and injection drug use (Government of Saskatchewan, 2023a).
- D Current and regular use of hard drugs by inhalation or injection with a deterioration in health or precarious living conditions (Santé et Services Sociaux Québec, 2023d).
- E Cigarette smokers (Government of Yukon, 2022).
- F No specification is given whether lifestyle factors are considered eligible (Government of Northwest Territories, 2023a).

² The 2023 NACI recommendations replace the term "lifestyle factors" with "social risk factors" (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023c). As our report references the 2016 recommendations, we use the term "lifestyle factors" throughout the findings.



Pneumococcal Vaccine Coverage Monitoring/Surveillance Across PTs

As shown in **Table 3**, publicly available information on pneumococcal vaccine coverage monitoring/ surveillance were only found in six jurisdictions (Alberta, Manitoba, Quebec, Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, and the Northwest Territories). While these six PTs mention some level of pneumococcal vaccine coverage monitoring through a vaccine registry, only Manitoba and Quebec were found to publish immunization coverage reports that included pneumococcal vaccines. In Manitoba and Quebec, population-level pneumococcal vaccine coverage is primarily tracked for PPV23 coverage among adults aged 65 years and older on an annual or biennial basis, respectively (Manitoba Health, Seniors and Active Living, 2019; Trottier & Dubé, 2022). Quebec also monitors pneumococcal vaccine coverage among certain high-risk populations, including individuals aged 64 years and younger at increased risk of IPD, and those aged 50 years and older with severe asthma requiring additional care (Trottier & Dubé, 2022). Detailed information on pneumococcal vaccine monitoring for British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario, and Quebec can be found in **Appendix B**.

TABLE 3. Public documentation of adult pneumococcal vaccine coverage across PTs

PTs	Mention of Pneumococcal Vaccine(s) Coverage Monitoring/Surveillance
ВС	ND – No publicly available information was found specific to adult pneumococcal vaccine coverage in the provincial immunization registry.
AB	Yes – Health practitioners are required to upload information into the provincial repository for all influenza/ pneumococcal vaccines. However, no publicly available information clarified what adult age groups for pneumococcal vaccine coverage are monitored.
SK	ND – No publicly available information found specific to adult pneumococcal vaccine coverage in provincial immunization registry.
MB	Yes – The annual <i>Immunization Surveillance Report</i> (that uses data from the provincial immunization registry) mentions the % of adults 65+ that have received at least one dose of PPV23 (Manitoba Health, Seniors and Active Living, 2019). No publicly available information was found clarifying if adults <65 are monitored for pneumococcal vaccine coverage.
ON	ND – No publicly available information found specific to adult provincial immunization registry; only immunizations for school-age children are monitored (Public Health Ontario, n.d.).
QC	Yes – Vaccine coverage is measured for certain target groups under the provincial pneumococcal vaccination program and published in biennial reports (Trottier & Dubé, 2022).
NB	ND – No publicly available information found specific to adult pneumococcal vaccine coverage in provincial immunization registry.
NS	Yes – PPV23 and PCV13 are mentioned as monitored vaccines in the provincial Panorama registry (Government of Nova Scotia, 2020). However, no publicly available information found clarifying what adult age groups for pneumococcal vaccine coverage are monitored.
PE	Yes – The "Pneumococcal Vaccine Orders" web page states that "[a]II immunizers are required to collect data on each vaccine recipient and report to the Chief Public Health Office" (Government of Prince Edward Island, n.d.) However, no publicly available information found clarifying what adult age groups for pneumococcal vaccine coverage are monitored.
NL	ND – No publicly available information found specific to adult pneumococcal vaccine coverage in provincial immunization registry.
YU	ND – No publicly available information found specific to adult pneumococcal vaccine coverage in territorial immunization registry.
NT	Yes – PCV13 and PPV23 are included in the Notifiable Immunization Register, stated by the <i>Public Health Act</i> (Government of Northwest Territories, 2022). However, no publicly available information found clarifying what adult age groups for pneumococcal vaccine coverage are monitored.
NU	ND – No publicly available information found specific to adult pneumococcal vaccine coverage in territorial immunization registry.

ND - Not determined



Considerations of Equity in Pneumococcal Vaccine Population Eligibility & Vaccine Monitoring

Our review found that some jurisdictions expanded pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for certain populations at risk for IPD that were not outlined in the 2016 NACI recommendations. In particular, Quebec and Newfoundland and Labrador publicly fund pneumococcal vaccines for Indigenous populations and communities. In Quebec, PCV20 is publicly funded for people aged 50 years and older in the Indigenous communities of Nunavik and Terres-Cries-de-la-Baie-James, and for residents aged 18–49 years in the same communities with high risk for IPD (Santé et Services Sociaux Québec, 2023d). In Newfoundland and Labrador, PPV23 is publicly funded for Indigenous populations of all ages (Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, 2019). Furthermore, Nunavut (in which approximately 85% of the population identifies as Indigenous [Statistics Canada, 2023])) extended the age range of publicly funded PPV23 to age 50 years and older for all immunocompetent adults (Nunavut Department of Health, 2017).

Although Ontario has not expanded vaccine eligibility as of yet, in September 2023 the Ontario Immunization Advisory Committee released recommendations supporting NACI guidelines that a pneumococcal vaccine should be recommended for those "who live in communities or settings experiencing sustained high IPD rates, which may include some Indigenous communities, in which case consultations with these communities are necessary" (Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion [Public Health Ontario], 2023). While not stated in the 2016 NACI recommendations, the 2023 NACI recommendations did identify that First Nations, Métis, and Inuit communities in Canada have a younger age distribution, but increased risk for IPD when compared to the rest of Canada and that "age-based recommendations may need to be modified to offer protection to individuals in these communities" (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023c). Many intersecting factors have been attributed to the increased risk for IPD in Indigenous communities including, but not limited to, the impacts of settler colonization and structural oppression, persisting inequities in the socioeconomic determinants of health, underlying medical conditions, and inadequate access to appropriate healthcare (Lee et al., 2023; Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023c).

Regarding pneumococcal vaccine monitoring, most jurisdictions have limited publicly available information on immunization coverage with an equity-focused lens. However, Manitoba and Quebec have publicly available information on pneumococcal vaccine monitoring, with some form of data disaggregation of sociodemographic factors that could be further assessed when analyzing equitable vaccine coverage. For example, Manitoba's Annual Immunization Report displays the percentage of adults aged 65 years and older who received PPV23 within the five geographic areas served by regional health authorities (Manitoba Health, Seniors and Active Living, 2019). In Quebec, vaccine coverage data for adults aged 65 years and older, adults at risk for IPD under 64 years, and adults 50 years and older with severe asthma are collected through population surveys and published in biennial reports for influenza, shingles, and pneumococcal vaccine coverage (Trottier & Dubé, 2022); this data is disaggregated by factors such as gender, age group, and reasons for pneumococcal vaccination or non-vaccination. It is important to note that although other sociodemographic data such as region, language spoken, education, and occupation are collected in the population surveys, this information is not published specifically for pneumococcal vaccine coverage.



Furthermore, at the time of this report, Ontario does not have a comprehensive immunization registry to capture immunizations across the lifespan (except for COVID-19 vaccines for which data exists for all ages). Without such a registry, data sources for monitoring coverage of adult vaccines (e.g., pneumococcal vaccines) rely on vaccine ordering and inventory information, and administrative data such as vaccine-billing codes submitted by healthcare providers (S. Wilson, personal communication, September 27, 2023). Province-wide adult immunization registries and surveillance systems are pivotal to understand if vaccine coverage is equitable across Ontario and all other PTs.



Conclusions

This rapid review found that most PTs in Canada align with the 2016 NACI recommendations on population eligibility and dose schedules for publicly funded pneumococcal vaccines. Differences from the recommendations were found in British Columbia, Manitoba, Ontario, Quebec, New Brunswick, Newfoundland and Labrador, Northwest Territories, and Nunavut; smoking as a lifestyle factor was found to be ineligible for publicly funded PPV23 in most jurisdictions (10 PTs).

Our findings also uncovered that publicly available information on monitoring and surveillance of adult pneumococcal vaccine coverage was limited in some jurisdictions. Of the six PTs that did have information on pneumococcal vaccine coverage monitoring, only Manitoba and Quebec publish immunization coverage reports that included pneumococcal vaccines; the immunization coverage reports in both provinces also provide some level of data disaggregation of sociodemographic factors related to pneumococcal vaccine coverage (e.g., age and region in Manitoba, and age and health condition in Quebec).

Considerations for Future Research and Policy

Publicly funded pneumococcal vaccination programs for adults are likely to change in the near future as PTs consider whether, when, and how to incorporate PCV15/PCV20 in their adult programs based on NACI's updated recommendations (2023). There are many areas for future research priorities and suggestions for PTs to address gaps in their publicly funded pneumococcal vaccine programs (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2023c). Below we list some considerations for future research and PT policy regarding adult pneumococcal vaccine population eligibility criteria, vaccine monitoring and surveillance, and equitable vaccine uptake:

- Continue to monitor changes across PTs and undertake cost-effectiveness analyses for publicly funded PCV15 and PCV20 immunization programs for adults.
- 2. Examine the possible impacts of these changes on pneumococcal disease, including possible impacts from any associated delays in implementing NACI recommendations.
- 3. Continue to prioritize eligibility for populations at high risk for IPD in publicly funded pneumococcal vaccine programs.
- 4. Prioritize research that investigates outreach and access of publicly funded pneumococcal vaccines for adults with high risk for IPD that may not have consistent encounters with or face barriers to accessing healthcare services (e.g., adults with social risk factors, adults in rural or remote locations etc.).
- Improve public accessibility of PT-wide adult pneumococcal vaccine monitoring and surveillance, ensuring data disaggregation of sociodemographic factors that can be further studied to discern equitable uptake for various populations.



References

- Alberta Health. (2022). Immunization Data Submission and Response Guidelines (Version 7.2).
- Alberta Health Services. (2023). Pneumococcal Polysaccharide Vaccine Biological Page.
- Alberta Health Services. (2022, September). Recording & Data Collection, Communicable Disease

 Control-Provincial Population and Public Health.

 https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/assets/healthinfo/flu/hi-flu-recording-guidelines.pdf
- Alberta Provincial Immunization Program. (2022, December 9). *Pneumococcal Polysaccharide (PNEUMO-P) Vaccine*. https://myhealth.alberta.ca/Alberta/Pages/immunization-pneumococcal-polysaccharide.aspx
- BC Center for Disease Control. (2023). Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine PREVNAR® 13; Communicable Disease Control Manual, Chapter 2: Immunization Part 4—Biological Products. http://www.bccdc.ca/resource-gallery/Documents/Guidelines%20and%20Forms/Guidelines%20and%20Manuals/Epid/CD%20 Manual/Chapter%202%20-%20Imms/Part4/PCV.pdf
- BC Centre for Disease Control. (2017). *Pneumococcal Conjugate (PCV 13) Vaccine*. HealthLinkBC. https://www.healthlinkbc.ca/sites/default/files/documents/healthfiles/hfile62a.pdf
- BC Centre for Disease Control. (2020). Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation (HSCT).

 http://www.bccdc.ca/resourcegallery/Documents/Guidelines%20and%20Forms/Guidelines%20and%20Manuals/Epid/CD%20
 Manual/Chapter%202%20-%20Imms/Part2/HSCT.pdf
- BC Centre for Disease Control. (2023). Pneumococcal Polysaccharide Vaccine PNEUMOVAX®23;

 Communicable Disease Control Manual, Chapter 2: Immunization Part 4—Biological Products.

 http://www.bccdc.ca/resourcegallery/Documents/Guidelines%20and%20Forms/Guidelines%20and%20Manuals/Epid/CD%20
 Manual/Chapter%202%20-%20Imms/Part4/PPV23.pdf
- Cafiero-Fonseca, E. T., Stawasz, A., Johnson, S. T., Sato, R., & Bloom, D. E. (2017). The full benefits of adult pneumococcal vaccination: A systematic review. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(10), e0186903. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0186903
- CancerCare Manitoba. (2017). RECORD OF IMMUNIZATIONS FOLLOWING A BLOOD AND MARROW TRANSPLANT (BMT).
- Doherty, T. M., Del Giudice, G., & Maggi, S. (2019). Adult vaccination as part of a healthy lifestyle: Moving from medical intervention to health promotion. *Annals of Medicine*, *51*(2), 128–140. https://doi.org/10.1080/07853890.2019.1588470
- Drijkoningen, J. J. C., & Rohde, G. G. U. (2014). Pneumococcal infection in adults: Burden of disease. Clinical Microbiology and Infection: The Official Publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, 20 Suppl 5, 45–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-0691.12461
- Government of Alberta. (2023). Adult HSCT Recommendations, Immunization for Adult Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplant (HSCT) Recipients.



- Government of Alberta, A. I. P. (2018). *Pneumococcal Vaccine, 13-valent Conjugate: Prevnar® 13.* https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/aip/resource/1e0e2935-1d18-455c-ade0-4bb728adcec5/download/AIP-BP-Pneu-C-13.pdf
- Government of New Brunswick. (n.d.-a). Pneumococcal disease (Invasive Pneumococcal Disease or IPD).

 Office of the Chief Medical Officer of Health (Public Health).

 https://www2.gnb.ca/content/gnb/en/departments/ocmoh/cdc/content/Pneumococcal_disease.html
- Government of New Brunswick. (n.d.-b). Standard 3.3 Eligibility Criteria for Publicly Funded Vaccines/Biologics. Retrieved June 19, 2023, from https://www2.gnb.ca/content/dam/gnb/Departments/h-s/pdf/en/CDC/HealthProfessionals/NBIPG-standard3-3-e.pdf
- Government of New Brunswick. (2021). *Pneumococcal polysaccharide 23-valent (Pneu-P-23) vaccine*. https://www2.gnb.ca/content/dam/gnb/Departments/h-s/pdf/en/CDC/vaccines/PneumococcalPolysaccharide23.pdf
- Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. (2019). Immunization Programs for High Risk Groups.
- Government of Northwest Territories. (2022). *Public Health Act: Immunization Regulations*. Department of Health and Social Services. https://www.justice.gov.nt.ca/en/files/legislation/public-health/public-health.r11.pdf
- Government of Northwest Territories. (2023a). *NWT Immunization Schedule*. https://www.hss.gov.nt.ca/sites/hss/files/immunization-schedule-general-public.pdf
- Government of Northwest Territories. (2023b). *Vaccines Publicly Funded in the NWT*. https://www.hss.gov.nt.ca/professionals/sites/professionals/files/resources/nwt-immunization-schedule-health-care-professionals.pdf
- Government of Nova Scotia. (2020). *Nova Scotia Panorama: Forecaster & Validation Rules*. Government of Nova Scotia. https://support.novascotia.ca/sites/default/files/NS_Documentation_of_forecaster_validation_rules v10.pdf
- Government of Ontario. (2022). Publicly Funded Immunization Schedules for Ontario June 2022.
- Government of Prince Edward Island. (n.d.). *Pneumococcal Vaccine Orders*. Retrieved July 4, 2023, from https://www.princeedwardisland.ca/en/service/pneumococcal-vaccine-orders
- Government of Prince Edward Island. (2023, February 21). *Adult Immunizations*. https://www.princeedwardisland.ca/en/information/health-and-wellness/adult-immunizations
- Government of Québec. (2020, March 26). *Benefits of the registry*. https://www.quebec.ca/en/health/your-health-information/quebec-vaccination-registry/benefits-of-the-registry
- Government of Québec. (2023a, February 3). *Pneumococcal vaccination program*. Gouvernement Du Québec. https://www.quebec.ca/en/health/advice-and-prevention/vaccination/pneumococcal-vaccination-program#c70069
- Government of Québec. (2023b, March 27). Registre de vaccination du Québec. Ministère de la Santé et des Services sociaux. https://msss.gouv.qc.ca/professionnels/vaccination/registre-vaccination/a-propos/



- Government of Saskatchewan. (2023a). Saskatchewan Immunization Manual, Chapter 7-Immunization of Special Populations.
- Government of Saskatchewan. (2023b). *Saskatchewan Immunization Manual, Chapter 10-Biological Products*.
- Government of Yukon. (2022). Yukon Immunization Program Manual, Section 8-Biologocial Products,

 Pneumococcal Vaccines. https://yukon.ca/sites/yukon.ca/files/hss/hss-section-8-pneumococcal-vaccines.pdf
- Health PEI. (2017). Fact Sheet: Pneumococcal Polysaccharide Vaccine 23 valent. https://src.healthpei.ca/sites/src.healthpei.ca/files/nursingeducation/Education/Pneumococcal _23_valent.pdf
- HealthLinkBC. (2017). *Pneumococcal Polysaccharide Vaccine*. https://www.healthlinkbc.ca/sites/default/files/documents/healthfiles/hfile62b.pdf
- Lee, N. R., King, A., Vigil, D., Mullaney, D., Sanderson, P. R., Ametepee, T., & Hammitt, L. L. (2023). Infectious diseases in Indigenous populations in North America: Learning from the past to create a more equitable future. *The Lancet. Infectious Diseases*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(23)00190-1
- Manitoba Health. (2023, February 8). *Manitoba's Immunization Program: Vaccines Offered Free-of-Charge (Eligibility Criteria for Publicly-Funded Vaccines)*. Province of Manitoba Health. https://www.gov.mb.ca/health/publichealth/cdc/vaccineeligibility.html
- Manitoba Health, Seniors and Active Living. (2019). *Annual Report of Immunization Surveillance*. https://www.gov.mb.ca/health/publichealth/surveillance/immunization/docs/annual_immunization_methods.pdf
- Ministère de la Santé et des Services Sociaux. (2023, January 26). *Principales modifications-Mise à jour du 26 janvier 2023*. https://www.msss.gouv.qc.ca/professionnels/vaccination/piq-principales-modifications/mise-a-jour-du-26-janvier-2023/
- Nasreen, S., Wang, J., Kwong, J. C., Crowcroft, N. S., Sadarangani, M., Wilson, S. E., McGeer, A., Kellner, J. D., Quach, C., Morris, S. K., Sander, B., Kus, J. V., Naus, M., Hoang, L., Rudzicz, F., Fadel, S., & Marra, F. (2021). Population-based incidence of invasive pneumococcal disease in children and adults in Ontario and British Columbia, 2002–2018: A Canadian Immunization Research Network (CIRN) study. *Vaccine*, *39*(52), 7545–7553. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.11.032
- Nova Scotia Health Authority. (2019). *Publicly Funded Vaccine Eligibility for Individuals at High Risk of Acquiring Vaccine Preventable Diseases*. Government of Nova Scotia. https://novascotia.ca/dhw/cdpc/documents/vaccine-eligibility-for-high-risk-conditions.pdf
- Nunavut Department of Health. (2014). *Nunavut Immunization Manual*. Government of Nunavut. https://www.gov.nu.ca/sites/default/files/immunization_manual.pdf
- Nunavut Department of Health. (2017). *Nunavut Childhood and Adult Immunization Schedules and Catch-up Aids*. Government of Nunavut. https://gov.nu.ca/sites/default/files/7.0_nunavut_childhood_and_adult_immunization_schedules_and_catch-up_aids_-oct_2_2020.pdf
- Nunavut Department of Health. (2018). *Guidelines For Special Populations*. Government of Nunavut. https://www.gov.nu.ca/sites/default/files/4.0_guidelines_for_special_populations_-_april_20_2018.pdf



- Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario), O. I. A. Committee. (2023). Recommendations: New Health Canada Authorized Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccines for Adults $Aged \ge 18 \ Years$.
- Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. (2015, September). *Immunization: Pneumococcal Polysaccharide Vaccine*. Government of Ontario, Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. https://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/public/publications/immune/pnem.aspx
- O'Reilly, R., Lu, H., Kwong, J. C., McGeer, A., To, T., & Sander, B. (2023). The epidemiology and healthcare costs of community-acquired pneumonia in Ontario, Canada: A population-based cohort study. *Journal of Medical Economics*, *26*(1), 293–302. https://doi.org/10.1080/13696998.2023.2176679
- PEI Department of Health and Wellness. (2019, June). *Prince Edward Island Adult Immunization Detailed Schedule*.

 https://www.princeedwardisland.ca/sites/default/files/publications/ai_detailed_schedule_2019 06.pdf
- Provincial Health Services Authority. (n.d.). *Provincial Public Health Information System*. Retrieved July 11, 2023, from http://www.phsa.ca/health-professionals/clinical-tools-applications/provincial-public-health-information-system
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2016, October). Pneumococcal vaccine: Canadian Immunization Guide [Education and awareness; guidance]. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/publications/healthy-living/canadian-immunization-guide-part-4-active-vaccines/page-16-pneumococcal-vaccine.html
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2021, November 2). Vaccine uptake in Canadian adults: Highlights from the 2020-2021 Seasonal Influenza Vaccination Coverage Survey [Surveys]. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/immunization-vaccines/vaccination-coverage/highlights-2020-2021-seasonal-influenza-survey.html
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2022, July 21). *Vaccine uptake in Canadian adults 2021*[Surveys;statistics]. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/immunization-vaccines/vaccination-coverage/highlights-2020-2021-seasonal-influenza-survey/full-report.html
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2023a, 06). *National Advisory Committee on Immunization (NACI): Membership and representation* [Organizational descriptions].

 https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/immunization/national-advisory-committee-on-immunization-naci/naci-membership-representation.html
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2023b, January 6). *Vaccination for adults* [Education and awareness]. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/vaccination-adults.html
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2023c, February 24). *Use of pneumococcal vaccines in adults, including the use of 15-valent and 20-valent conjugate vaccines: NACI public health level recommendations.* [Guidance]. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/immunization/national-advisory-committee-on-immunization-naci/public-health-level-recommendations-use-pneumococcal-vaccines-adults-including-use-15-valent-20-valent-conjugate-vaccines.html
- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2023d, April 18). *Vaccination coverage in Canada* [Education and awareness]. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/immunization-vaccines/vaccination-coverage.html



- Public Health Agency of Canada. (2023e, July 10). *Invasive Pneumococcal Disease*. https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/immunization/vaccine-preventable-diseases/invasive-pneumococcal-disease/health-professionals.html
- Public Health Ontario. (n.d.). *Immunization Coverage*. Public Health Ontario. Retrieved July 11, 2023, from https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/Health-Topics/Immunization/Vaccine-Coverage
- Santé et Services Sociaux Québec. (2023a, June 22). Autres vaccins recommandés—Calendriers de vaccination. Ministère de la Santé et des Services sociaux.

 https://msss.gouv.qc.ca/professionnels/vaccination/piq-calendriers-de-vaccination/autres-vaccins-recommandes/#vaccins-selon-les-conditions-medicales
- Santé et Services Sociaux Québec. (2023b, June 22). *Impacts des programmes de vaccination*. Ministère de La Santé et Des Services Sociaux. https://msss.gouv.qc.ca/professionnels/vaccination/piq-impacts-des-programmes-de-vaccination/donnees-de-couverture-vaccinale-au-quebec/
- Santé et Services Sociaux Québec. (2023c, June 22). *Pneu-P: Vaccin polysaccharidique contre le pneumocoque*. Ministère de La Santé et Des Services Sociaux. https://www.msss.gouv.qc.ca/professionnels/vaccination/piq-vaccins/pneu-p-vaccin-polysaccharidique-contre-le-pneumocoque/
- Santé et Services Sociaux Québec. (2023d, June 22). *Tableau synthèse des vaccins contre le pneumocoque*. https://msss.gouv.qc.ca/professionnels/vaccination/piq-vaccins/tableau-synthese-pour-l-utilisation-des-vaccins-contre-le-pneumocoque/
- Stancu, A., Khan, A., & Barratt, J. (2023). Driving the life course approach to vaccination through the lens of key global agendas. *Frontiers in Aging*, *4*. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fragi.2023.1200397
- Statistics Canada. (2023, June 21). *Profile table: Nunavut [Territory], Indigenous Population Profile, 2021 Census of Population*. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2021/dp-pd/ipp-ppa/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&DGUID=2021A000262&SearchText=nunavut&HP=105&HH=0&G ENDER=1&AGE=1&RESIDENCE=1
- Statistics Canada, S. C. (2022, January 4). *Leading causes of death, total population, by age group*. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310039401
- Sulis, G., Rodrigue, V., Wolfson, C., McMillan, J. M., Kirkland, S. A., Andrew, M. K., & Basta, N. E. (2022). Pneumococcal vaccination uptake and missed opportunities for vaccination among Canadian adults: A cross-sectional analysis of the Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). *PLOS ONE*, 17(10), e0275923. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0275923
- Trottier, M.-È., & Dubé, È. (2022). Enquête québécoise sur la vaccination contre la grippe saisonnière, le pneumocoque, le zona et sur les déterminants de la vaccination: 2020. https://www.inspq.qc.ca/sites/default/files/publications/2840-enquete-vaccination-grippe-pneumoccoque-zona.pdf
- Wilson, S. E., Quach, S., MacDonald, S. E., Naus, M., Deeks, S. L., Crowcroft, N. S., Mahmud, S. M., Tran, D., Kwong, J. C., Tu, K., Johnson, C., & Desai, S. (2016). Immunization information systems in Canada: Attributes, functionality, strengths and challenges. A Canadian Immunization Research Network study. *Canadian Journal of Public Health / Revue Canadienne de Santé Publique*, 107(6), e575–e582. https://www.jstor.org/stable/90006532



Appendix A. Case Study Summaries, Vaccine Eligibility

British Columbia

TABLE A1. Population and pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for British Columbia compared to 2016 NACI recommendations

NACI Pneumococcal Vaccine R (Public Health Agency of C		Eligibility of publicly funded vaccine in British Columbia
Population	Dose schedule	
Adults aged 65 years and up	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose
Adults aged less than 65 years in long-term care facilities	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose (HealthLinkBC, 2017; BC Centre for Disease Control, 2017)
Adults with non-immunocompromising conditions such as: Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic heart disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease, including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause Chronic lung disease, including asthma that required medical care in the preceding 12 months	PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster dose at least 5 years later for people at highest risk for IPD PCV13: 1 dose may be given in combination with PPV23 at different intervals based on recommendation from healthcare provider).	 PPV23: 1 dose for the following conditions (BC Centre for Disease Control, 2023) Chronic heart or lung disease (except asthma, unless management involves ongoing high-dose oral corticosteroid treatment) Cystic fibrosis Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease including cirrhosis, chronic hepatitis B, hepatitis C Diabetes Chronic CSF leak Cochlear implant (candidate or recipient) Chronic neurological conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions PPV23: booster dose 5 years after initial dose to those who have Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease including cirrhosis, chronic hepatitis B, and hepatitis C
Adults with immunocompromising conditions such as: Sickle cell disease, congenital or acquired asplenia, or splenic dysfunction Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including Blymphocyte (humoral) immunity, Tlymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies), or phagocytic functions Immunocompromising therapy, including use of long-term corticosteroids,	PCV13: 1 dose AND PPV23: 1 dose at least 8 weeks after PCV13 + 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later Multiple doses of vaccines may be given based on condition and recommendation from healthcare provider.	 PCV13: 1 dose for (BC Center for Disease Control, 2023) those with HIV infection HSCT recipients² Individuals with these conditions should get one dose of PPV23 after last dose of PCV13. PPV23: 1 dose + booster dose after 5 years to those who have (BC Centre for Disease Control, 2023) Anatomic or functional asplenia Sickle cell disease Immunosuppression related to disease (HIV, lymphoma, Hodgkin's, multiple myeloma) or therapy (e.g., high dose, systemic steroids) Congenital immunodeficiency states



chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and post- organ transplant therapy HIV infection HSCT recipient¹ Malignant neoplasms, including leukemia and lymphoma Nephrotic syndrome Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient)		 Solid organ or islet cell transplant HSCT recipients²
Immunocompetent adults less than 65 years of age with lifestyle factors at high risk of IPD: • Alcoholism • Smoking • Homelessness • Illicit drug use	PPV23: 1 dose	 PPV23: 1 dose for these groups (BC Centre for Disease Control, 2023) People experiencing homelessness People who use illicit drugs Alcohol use disorder
Other (not included in NACI guidelines)	N/A	N/A

Notes:

N/A Not available

¹ NACI recommends that adult HSCT recipients receive 3 doses of PCV13 3–9 months post-transplant and 1 dose of PPV23 12–18 months post-transplant; 1 booster dose of PPV23 is also recommended 1 year later by some experts (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016).

² For adult HSCT recipients, the first dose of PCV13 is recommended 6-12 months post-transplant; second dose of PCV13 is recommended 1 month after first dose; third dose is recommended 2 months after first dose; PPV23 is recommended 8 months after first dose of PCV13 (BC Centre for Disease Control, 2020).



Alberta

TABLE A2. Population and pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for Alberta compared to 2016 NACI recommendations

NACI Pneumococcal Vaccine F (Public Health Agency of C		Eligibility of publicly funded vaccine in Alberta ³
Population	Dose schedule	
Adults aged 65 years and up	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose for adults aged 65 years and up (Alberta Provincial Immunization Program, 2022).
		One dose should be taken as long as 5 years have passed since a previous vaccine dose (Alberta Health Services, 2023).
Adults aged less than 65 years in long-term care facilities	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose for all residents of long-term care facilities (Alberta Health Services, 2023)
Adults with non-immunocompromising conditions such as: Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic heart disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease, including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause Chronic lung disease, including asthma that required medical care in the preceding 12 months	PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster dose at least 5 years later for people at highest risk for IPD PCV13: 1 dose may be given in combination with PPV23 at different intervals based on recommendation from healthcare provider).	 PPV23: 1 dose sufficient for most individuals considered medically at risk; some conditions that contribute to higher risk for IPD require a booster dose (Alberta Health Services, 2023). Conditions for people "medically at risk" aged 24 months–64 years old: Chronic renal disease, including nephrotic syndrome Chronic liver disease, including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause, hepatitis B carriers and hepatitis C infection Chronic cardiac disease Chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions Chronic CSF leak Chronic pulmonary disease (including asthma requiring medical treatment within the last 12 months regardless of whether they are on high dose steroids) Cochlear implants (candidates and recipients Diabetes mellitus PCV13: 1 dose for conditions that contribute to high risk for IPD. PPV23 may also be given at different intervals along with PCV13 for high risk individuals (Government of Alberta, 2018). Adults with conditions resulting in high risk for IPD:
Adults with immunocompromising conditions such as: Sickle cell disease, congenital or acquired asplenia, or splenic dysfunction Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including Blymphocyte (humoral) immunity, T-	PCV13: 1 dose AND PPV23: 1 dose at least 8 weeks after PCV13 + 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later	 PCV13: 1 dose for conditions that contribute to high risk for IPD. PPV23 may also be given at different intervals along with PCV13 for high risk individuals (Government of Alberta, 2018). Adults with conditions resulting in high risk for IPD: Asplenia (anatomical or functional) Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including B-lymphocyte (humoral) immunity, T-lymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies) or phagocytic functions



lymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity,
complement system (properdin or factor D
deficiencies), or phagocytic functions

- Immunocompromising therapy, including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and postorgan transplant therapy
- HIV infection
- HSCT recipient¹
- Malignant neoplasms, including leukemia and lymphoma
- Nephrotic syndrome
- Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient)

Multiple doses of vaccines may be given based on condition and recommendation from healthcare provider.

- HIV infection
- HSCT recipients²
- Immunosuppressive therapy including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, post-organ transplant therapy, biologic and nonbiologic immunosuppressive therapies for rheumatologic and other inflammatory diseases
- Malignant hematologic disorders (affecting the bone marrow or lymphatic system) including leukemia, lymphoma Hodgkin's disease and multiple myeloma
- Malignant solid organ tumors undergoing or anticipating immunosuppressive therapy (chemotherapy or radiation)
- Nephrotic Syndrome
- Sickle cell disease and other hemoglobinopathies
- Solid organ or islet cell transplant candidates and recipients

PPV23: 1 dose sufficient for most individuals considered medically at risk; some conditions that contribute to higher risk for IPD require a booster dose (Alberta Health Services, 2023). Conditions for people "medically at risk" aged 24 months–64 years old:

- Asplenia/hyposplenism (functional or anatomic)
- Congenital immune deficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including B-lymphocyte (humoral) immunity; T-lymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity; complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies); or phagocytic functions
- HSCT recipients²
- HIV infection
- Undergoing or anticipating immunosuppressive therapy including: use of long-term corticosteroids; chemotherapy; radiation therapy; post-organ transplant therapy
- Biologic and non-biologic immunosuppressive therapies for: inflammatory arthropathies, e.g., systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid or juvenile arthritis; inflammatory dermatological conditions, e.g., psoriasis, severe atopic dermatitis and eczema; and inflammatory bowel disease, e.g., Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis
- Malignant hematologic disorders (affecting the bone marrow or lymphatic system), including leukemia, lymphoma, Hodgkin's disease and non-Hodgkin's lymphomas, and multiple myeloma
- Malignant solid organ tumors either currently or within past 5 years
- Sickle cell disease and other hemoglobinopathies
- Solid organ or islet transplant candidates and recipients

Immunocompetent adults less than 65 years of age with lifestyle factors at high risk of IPD:

PPV23: 1 dose

PPV23: 1 dose (Alberta Health Services, 2023)



 Alcoholism Smoking Homelessness Illicit drug use		 Living in homeless/chronically disadvantaged situations (e.g., no address or home, staying in shelters, cars etc.) Illicit injection drug use Alcoholism
Other (not included in NACI guidelines)	N/A	N/A

Notes:

N/A Not available

- ¹ NACI recommends that adult HSCT recipients receive 3 doses of PCV13 3–9 months post-transplant and 1 dose of PPV23 12–18 months post-transplant; 1 booster dose of PPV23 is also recommended 1 year later by some experts (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016).
- ² For adult HSCT recipients, first dose of PCV13 is recommended 6 months post-transplant; second dose of PCV13 is recommended 7 months post-transplant; third dose of PCV13 is recommended 8 months post-transplant; first dose of PPV23 is recommended 14 months post-transplant; booster dose of PPV23 is recommended 24 months post-transplant (Government of Alberta, 2023).
- ³ Provincial sources from Alberta did not differentiate between immunocompromising and non-immunocompromising conditions.



Saskatchewan

TABLE A3. Population and pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for Saskatchewan compared to 2016 NACI recommendations

NACI Pneumococcal Vaccine F (Public Health Agency of C	anada, 2016)	Eligibility of publicly funded vaccine in Saskatchewan		
Population	Dose schedule			
Adults aged 65 years and up	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose (Government of Saskatchewan, 2023b)		
Adults aged less than 65 years in long-term care facilities	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose for all residents of extended or intermediate care facilities (Government of Saskatchewan, 2023b)		
Adults with non-immunocompromising conditions such as: Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic heart disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease, including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause Chronic lung disease, including asthma that required medical care in the preceding 12 months	PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster dose at least 5 years later for people at highest risk for IPD PCV13: 1 dose may be given in combination with PPV23 at different intervals based on recommendation from healthcare provider).	PPV23 and PCV13: 1 dose sufficient for most individuals; some conditions eligible for PPV23 booster after 5 years) (Government of Saskatchewan, 2023a): Cardiac disease CSF disorder Cochlear implant Cystic fibrosis Diabetes mellitus Liver disease (including alcoholism) Lung disease (asthma only if on high dose oral corticosteroid therapy) Neurological conditions that impede the clearance of respiratory/oral secretions Renal disease		
Adults with immunocompromising conditions such as: Sickle cell disease, congenital or acquired asplenia, or splenic dysfunction Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including Blymphocyte (humoral) immunity, Tlymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies), or phagocytic functions Immunocompromising therapy, including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and postorgan transplant therapy HIV infection	PCV13: 1 dose AND PPV23: 1 dose at least 8 weeks after PCV13 + 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later Multiple doses of vaccines may be given based on condition and recommendation from healthcare provider.	 PCV13 and PPV23: 1 dose sufficient for most individuals; some conditions eligible for PPV23 booster after 5 years (Government of Saskatchewan, 2023a) Asplenia³ Cancer/malignancies³ Sickle cell disease³ Acquired Complement Deficiency Congenital immunodeficiency HIV Related to disease (e.g., myelodysplasia; collagen vascular disease) Transplant candidate or recipient (including organs, islet, and HSCT²) Treatments: chemotherapy and radiation therapies; currently taking immunosuppressants (e.g., for inflammatory bowel disease; systemic lupus erythematosus; rheumatoid arthritis (e.g., immune modulators such as antirheumatics drugs); long-term corticosteroids 		



 HSCT recipient¹ Malignant neoplasms, including leukemia and lymphoma Nephrotic syndrome Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient) 		
Immunocompetent adults less than 65 years of age with lifestyle factors at high risk of IPD: • Alcoholism • Smoking • Homelessness • Illicit drug use	PPV23: 1 dose	 PPV23: 1 dose designated as "Special Populations" (Government of Saskatchewan, 2023a): Homeless Substance use: illicit non-injection and injection drug use Alcoholism
Other (not included in NACI guidelines)	N/A	N/A

Notes:

¹ NACI recommends that adult HSCT recipients receive 3 doses of PCV13 3–9 months post-transplant and 1 dose of PPV23 12–18 months post-transplant; 1 booster dose of PPV23 is also recommended 1 year later by some experts (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016).

² For adult HSCT recipients, first dose of PCV13 is recommended 6 months post-transplant; second dose of PCV13 is recommended 7 months post-transplant; third dose of PCV13 is recommended 8 months post-transplant; PPV23 is recommended 20 months post-transplant and 1 booster dose after 5 years (Government of Saskatchewan, 2023a).

³ Provincial source from Saskatchewan differentiated conditions by "chronic" and "immunocompromised". Source categorized "asplenia, cancer/malignancies, and sickle cell disease" under chronic conditions instead of immunocompromised (Government of Saskatchewan, 2023a).



Manitoba

TABLE A4. Population and pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for Manitoba compared to 2016 NACI recommendations

NACI Pneumococcal Vaccine Recommendations (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016)		Eligibility of publicly funded vaccine in Manitoba
Population	Dose schedule	
Adults aged 65 years and up	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose, at least 5 years after any previous PPV23 vaccine and 8 weeks after any previous dose of PCV13 (Manitoba Health, 2023)
Adults aged less than 65 years in long-term care facilities	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose, 8 weeks after any previous dose of PCV13 (Manitoba Health, 2023)
Adults with non-immunocompromising conditions such as: Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic heart disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease, including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause Chronic lung disease, including asthma that required medical care in the preceding 12 months	PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster dose at least 5 years later for people at highest risk for IPD PCV13: 1 dose may be given in combination with PPV23 at different intervals based on recommendation from healthcare provider).	PPV23: 1 dose for those under 65 years of age with the following conditions (Manitoba Health, 2023) Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic condition that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic cardiac disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease (including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause) Chronic pulmonary disease Ilifetime booster dose of PPV23 for those aged 65 years and older, and newly diagnosed as being at highest risk of IPD including (Manitoba Health, 2023) Hepatic cirrhosis Chronic renal failure
 Adults with immunocompromising conditions such as: Sickle cell disease, congenital or acquired asplenia, or splenic dysfunction Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including Blymphocyte (humoral) immunity, Tlymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies), or phagocytic functions Immunocompromising therapy, including use of long-term corticosteroids, 	PCV13: 1 dose AND PPV23: 1 dose at least 8 weeks after PCV13 + 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later Multiple doses of vaccines may be given based on condition and recommendation from healthcare provider.	 PCV13: 1 dose at least 1 year after any previous dose of PPV23 vaccines for those with the following conditions (Manitoba Health, 2023) Hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipients⁴ HIV infection³ Solid organ transplant recipient Malignant neoplasms² (solid tissue and haematological; leukemia, lymphoma, clonal blood disorder) AND immunosuppressive therapy (chemotherapy, radiation therapy) Hypo- or asplenic¹ (Sickle Cell Disease, etc.) PPV23: 1 dose for adults less than 65 years of age with the following conditions (Manitoba Health, 2023) Asplenia (functional or anatomic)



chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and post- organ transplant therapy HIV infection HSCT recipient¹ Malignant neoplasms, including leukemia and lymphoma Nephrotic syndrome Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient)		 Hemoglobinopathies Congenital immunodeficiencies involving the immune system (B-lymphocyte (humoral) immunity, T-lymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin, factor D deficiencies), phagocytic functions) Immunocompromising therapy including use of long-term corticosteroids, postorgan transplant therapy, and certain anti-rheumatic drugs HIV infection HSCT recipient⁴ Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient) Nephrotic syndrome Malignant neoplasms² (solid tissue and haematological; leukemia, lymphoma, clonal blood disorder) AND immunosuppressive therapy (chemotherapy, radiation therapy) Hypo- or asplenic² (Sickle Cell Disease, etc.) 1 lifetime booster dose of PPV23 for those aged 65 years and older, and newly diagnosed as being at highest risk of IPD Asplenia (functional or anatomic) Sickle cell disease HIV infection Immunosuppression related to disease or therapy Nephrotic syndrome
Immunocompetent adults less than 65 years of age with lifestyle factors at high risk of IPD: • Alcoholism • Smoking • Homelessness • Illicit drug use	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose for those under 65 years of age with the following lifestyle factors (Manitoba Health, 2023) • Alcoholism • Homelessness • Illicit drug use
Other (not included in NACI guidelines)	N/A	N/A

Notes:

Provincial sources from Manitoba did not separate conditions by non-immunocompromising/ immunocompromising/ lifestyle conditions (Manitoba Health, 2023); PPV23 and PCV13 eligibility grouped under high-risk criteria/ medical condition, and PPV23 lifetime booster eligibility grouped under highest risk of invasive pneumococcal disease (IPD).

¹ NACI recommends that adult HSCT recipients receive 3 doses of PCV13 3–9 months post-transplant and 1 dose of PPV23 12–18 months post-transplant; 1 booster dose of PPV23 is also recommended 1 year later by some experts (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016).

² Patients under the care of a hematologist or oncologist at CancerCare Manitoba.

Publicly funded pneumococcal vaccine programs and monitoring



- ³ Should be followed up eight weeks later by a dose of PPV23; individuals < 65 years of age who are living with HIV should receive 1 lifetime booster dose of PPV23 after five years.
- ⁴ For adult HSCT recipients, 1st dose of PCV13 is recommended 3 months post-transplant; 2nd dose of PCV13 is recommended 4 months post-transplant; 3rd dose of PCV13 is recommended 5 months post-transplant; 1st dose of PPV23 is recommended 24 months post-transplant (CancerCare Manitoba, 2017).



Ontario

TABLE A5. Population and pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for Ontario compared to 2016 NACI recommendations

NACI Pneumococcal Vaccine Recommendations (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016)		Eligibility of publicly funded vaccine in Ontario
Population	Dose schedule	(Government of Ontario, 2022)
Adults aged 65 years and up	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose
Adults aged less than 65 years in long-term care facilities	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose for residents of nursing homes, homes for the aged, and chronic care facilities or wards
Adults with non-immunocompromising conditions such as: Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic heart disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease, including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause Chronic lung disease, including asthma that required medical care in the preceding 12 months	PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster dose at least 5 years later for people at highest risk for IPD PCV13: 1 dose may be given in combination with PPV23 at different intervals based on recommendation from healthcare provider).	 PPV23: 1 dose for those with the following conditions: Diabetes mellitus Chronic cardiac disease Chronic CSF leak Cochlear implants Chronic liver disease (including hepatitis B and C and hepatic cirrhosis) Chronic renal disease Chronic respiratory disease, excluding asthma (unless treated high-dose corticosteroid therapy) Neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions + 1 lifetime booster dose of PPV23 for these the following conditions: Hepatic cirrhosis Chronic renal failure or nephrotic syndrome
 Adults with immunocompromising conditions such as: Sickle cell disease, congenital or acquired asplenia, or splenic dysfunction Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including Blymphocyte (humoral) immunity, Tlymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies), or phagocytic functions Immunocompromising therapy, including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and postorgan transplant therapy HIV infection 	PCV13: 1 dose AND PPV23: 1 dose at least 8 weeks after PCV13 + 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later Multiple doses of vaccines may be given based on condition and recommendation from healthcare provider.	 PCV13: 1 dose, only for adults 50 years and older with the following conditions: Asplenia (anatomical or functional) Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune systems, including B-lymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies) or phagocytic functions HIV Immunocompromising therapy including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, post organ-transplants therapy, biologic and certain anti-rheumatic drugs HSCT recipient² Malignant neoplasms including leukemia and lymphoma Sickle cell disease or other hemoglobinopathies Solid organ or islet cell transplant (candidate or recipient)



 Hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipient¹ Malignant neoplasms, including leukemia and lymphoma Nephrotic syndrome Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient) 		 PPV23: 1 dose, following dose of PCV13 for those with the following conditions: Asplenia (functional or anatomic), splenic dysfunction Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune systems, including B-lymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies) or phagocytic functions HIV Nephrotic syndrome Immunocompromising therapy including use of long-term systemic corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, post organ-transplants therapy, certain anti-rheumatic drugs and other immunosuppressive therapy Malignant neoplasms, including leukemia and lymphoma Sickle cell disease and other sickle cell haemoglobinopathies Solid organ or islet cell transplant (candidate or recipient) HSCT recipients² + 1 lifetime booster dose of PPV23 for these conditions: Asplenia (functional or anatomic) or sickle cell disease HIV Immunocompromised related to disease or therapy
Immunocompetent adults less than 65 years of age with lifestyle factors at high risk of IPD: • Alcoholism • Smoking • Homelessness • Illicit drug use	PPV23: 1 dose	Not eligible
Other (not included in NACI guidelines)	N/A	N/A

Notes:

People with alcoholism are recommended to have 1 dose of PPV23 but this is NOT publicly funded (Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care, 2015)

Provincial sources do not differentiate by "immunocompromising" and "non-immunocompromising"; conditions are grouped under "high risk eligibility criteria" (Government of Ontario, 2022),

¹ NACI recommends that adult HSCT recipients receive 3 doses of PCV13 3–9 months post-transplant and 1 dose of PPV23 12–18 months post-transplant; 1 booster dose of PPV23 is also recommended 1 year later by some experts (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016).

² For adult HSCT recipients, 1st dose of PCV13 is recommended 3–9 months post-transplant; 2nd dose of PCV13 recommended 1 month after 1st dose; 3rd dose of PCV13 is recommended 1 month after 2nd dose; 1 dose of PPV23 is recommended 12–18 months post-transplant.



Quebec

TABLE A6. Population and pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for Quebec compared to 2016 NACI recommendations

NACI Pneumococcal Vaccine Recommendations (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016)		Eligibility of publicly funded vaccine in Quebec
Population	Dose schedule	
Adults aged 65 years and up	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23:1 dose, at least 5 years from previous dose (Government of Québec, 2023a)
Adults aged less than 65 years in long-term care facilities	PPV23: 1 dose	N/A
Adults with non-immunocompromising conditions such as: Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic heart disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease, including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause Chronic lung disease, including asthma that required medical care in the preceding 12 months	PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster dose at least 5 years later for people at highest risk for IPD PCV13: 1 dose may be given in combination with PPV23 at different intervals based on recommendation from healthcare provider).	 PPV23: 1 dose for those with the following conditions (Santé et Services Sociaux Québec, 2023d): Chronic discharge of CSF Medical condition that may compromise the evacuation of respiratory secretions and increase the risk of aspiration (e.g., cognitive disorder, medullary injury, convulsive disorder, neuromuscular disorders) Cochlear implant Chronic heart disease (e.g., heart failure, cardiomyopathy, cyanogenic heart disease) Diabetes Chronic liver disease (e.g., alcoholism, carrier of hepatitis B or hepatitis C, cirrhosis) Chronic lung disease (e.g., cystic fibrosis, chronic bronchitis, emphysema, bronchopulmonary dysplasia) Asthma severe enough to require regular medical follow-up or hospital care for people aged 50 and over (not for those <50, unless accompanied by chronic bronchitis, emphysema, or long-term systemic corticosteroid therapy) Chronic kidney diseases (hemodialysis or peritoneal dialysis [current or foreseeable], chronic renal failure and other chronic kidney disease, including nephrotic syndrome) (Santé et Services Sociaux Québec, 2023a) Additional dose of PPV23 5 years later for those with the following conditions (Santé et Services Sociaux Québec, 2023c) Chronic kidney failure Nephrotic syndrome
Adults with immunocompromising conditions such as: Sickle cell disease, congenital or acquired asplenia, or splenic dysfunction	PCV13: 1 dose AND	PCV20 ^{2:} 1 dose for those with the following conditions (Santé et Services Sociaux Québec, 2023a): • Anatomical or functional asplenia (or conditions leading to functional asplenia)



 Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including Blymphocyte (humoral) immunity, Tlymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies), or phagocytic functions Immunocompromising therapy, including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and postorgan transplant therapy HIV infection Hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipient¹ Malignant neoplasms, including leukemia and lymphoma Nephrotic syndrome Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient) Immunocompetent adults less than 65 years of age with lifestyle factors at high risk of IPD: Alcoholism Smoking 	PPV23: 1 dose at least 8 weeks after PCV13 + 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later Multiple doses of vaccines may be given based on condition and recommendation from healthcare provider.	 Hemoglobinopathy (e.g., sickle cell anemia, thalassemia major, spherocytosis) Essential thrombocythemia (excess platelets) Systemic lupus erythematosus Celiac disease (gluten enteropathy) Inflammatory enteropathies (Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis) Conditions leading to immunosuppression: Hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipient (schedule prescribed by the transplant center) Malic hematological disorder (leukemia, lymphoma or any other neoplasm of the bone marrow or lymphatic system) Some malignant solid tumors (non-hematological cancers) Chemotherapy, radiotherapy, or immunosuppressive treatment Congenital antibody deficiency Complementary, properdin, D-factor or H-factor deficiency Other congenital immune deficiency (e.g., Di George syndrome) Other diseases causing immunosuppression Transplantation of a full organ HIV infection PPV23 (dose not specified) for the following (Santé et Services Sociaux Québec, 2023d): Alcoholism Homeless Current and regular use of hard drugs by inhalation or injection with a deterioration in
Homelessness Illicit drug use		health or precarious living conditions.2/12/2024 1:01:00 PM
Other (not included in NACI guidelines)	N/A	 PCV20 (dose not specified) for the following: (Santé et Services Sociaux Québec, 2023d) People aged 50 and over living in the Indigenous communities of Nunavik and Terres-Cries-de-la-Baie-James People aged 18 to 49 living in the same communities and presenting a (high-risk) condition.

Notes:

- Adults with anatomical or functional asplenia or an immunosuppressive state must receive Pneu-C-20 vaccine 1 year after the last dose of PPV23 (Santé et Services Sociaux Québec, 2023d).
- Québec classifies nephrotic syndrome under chronic kidney diseases (hence its classification in the non-immunocompromising category).
- Provincial sources categorize pneumococcal vaccines as Pneu-P: polysaccharide and Pneu-C: conjugate. Pneu-C: conjugate vaccines include PCV10, PCV13, PCV15 and PCV20.
- Provincial sources group eligible populations under other conditions; conditions are not separated by non-immunocompromising/immunocompromising/lifestyle conditions.



¹ NACI recommends that adult HSCT recipients receive 3 doses of PCV13 3–9 months post-transplant and 1 dose of PPV23 12–18 months post-transplant; 1 booster dose of PPV23 is also recommended 1 year later by some experts (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016).

New Brunswick

TABLE A7. Population and pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for New Brunswick compared to 2016 NACI recommendations

NACI Pneumococcal Vaccine Recommendations (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016)		Eligibility of publicly funded vaccine in New Brunswick	
Population	Dose schedule		
Adults aged 65 years and up	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose (Government of New Brunswick, 2021) Adults who received PPV23 before 65 years of age, should receive 1 dose of PPV23 again at 65 years of age (at least 5 years after any previous dose) (Government of New Brunswick n.da).	
Adults aged less than 65 years in long-term care facilities	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose (Government of New Brunswick, n.da)	
Adults with non-immunocompromising conditions such as: Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic heart disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease, including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause Chronic lung disease, including asthma that required medical care in the preceding 12 months	PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster dose at least 5 years later for people at highest risk for IPD PCV13: 1 dose may be given in combination with PPV23 at different intervals based on recommendation from healthcare provider).	 PPV23: 1 dose for those with the following conditions (Government of New Brunswick, n.db) Chronic Neurological Conditionals (chronic neurological conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions) Cochlear Implant Diabetes mellitus Chronic Liver Disease (including hepatitis C, chronic hepatitis B, and other diseases) Chronic CSF leak Chronic Lung disease (not including asthma for adults) Cystic Fibrosis Chronic salicylic acid therapy Cochlear Implant Renal disease and dialysis Heart disease and stroke 	

² PPV23 is not required following administration of PCV20 (Santé et Services Sociaux Québec, 2023c).



Adults with immunocompromising conditions such as: Sickle cell disease, congenital or acquired asplenia, or splenic dysfunction Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including Blymphocyte (humoral) immunity, Tlymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies), or phagocytic functions Immunocompromising therapy, including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and postorgan transplant therapy HIV infection Hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipient¹ Malignant neoplasms, including leukemia and lymphoma Nephrotic syndrome Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient)	PCV13: 1 dose AND PPV23: 1 dose at least 8 weeks after PCV13 + 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later Multiple doses of vaccines may be given based on condition and recommendation from healthcare provider.	PCV13: 1 dose for those with the following conditions HSCT2 HIV Congenital Immunodeficiency Solid Organ Transplant Splenic Disorders (including Sickle Cell Disease or other hemoglobinopathies) If PCV13 was given first, wait 8 weeks and follow with 1 dose of PPV23 (Government of New Brunswick, n.db) PPV23: 1 dose for those with the following conditions (Government of New Brunswick, n.db): Cancers Congenital Immunodeficiency HSCT2 HIV Immunosuppressive Therapy Solid Organ Transplant Splenic Disorders (including Sickle Cell Disease or other hemoglobinopathies) Hemophilia, Bleeding Disorders (multiple blood or plasma/component transfusions)
Immunocompetent adults less than 65 years of age with lifestyle factors at high risk of IPD: • Alcoholism • Smoking • Homelessness • Illicit drug use	PPV23: 1 dose	 PPV23: 1 dose for the following (Government of New Brunswick, n.db): Alcoholism Homelessness Illicit drug use
Other (not included in NACI guidelines)	N/A	N/A

¹ NACI recommends that adult HSCT recipients receive 3 doses of PCV13 3–9 months post-transplant and 1 dose of PPV23 12–18 months post-transplant; 1 booster dose of PPV23 is also recommended 1 year later by some experts (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016).

² HSCT recipients are eligible to receive 3 doses of PCV13 and 1 dose of PPV23 (Government of New Brunswick, n.d.-b).



Nova Scotia

TABLE A8. Population and pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for Nova Scotia compared to 2016 NACI recommendations

NACI Pneumococcal Vaccine Recommendations (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016)		Eligibility of publicly funded vaccine in Nova Scotia
Population	Dose schedule	(Nova Scotia Health Authority, 2019)
Adults aged 65 years and up	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose
Adults aged less than 65 years in long-term care facilities	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose
Adults with non-immunocompromising conditions such as: Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic heart disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease, including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause Chronic lung disease, including asthma that required medical care in the preceding 12 months	PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster dose at least 5 years later for people at highest risk for IPD PCV13: 1 dose may be given in combination with PPV23 at different intervals based on recommendation from healthcare provider).	 PPV23: 1 dose for those with the following conditions: Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurological conditions (only those that may impair clearance of oral secretions) Cochlear implant Heart disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic renal disease Chronic liver disease Chronic lung disease (not asthma) Cystic fibrosis
Adults with immunocompromising conditions such as: Sickle cell disease, congenital or acquired asplenia, or splenic dysfunction Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including Blymphocyte (humoral) immunity, Tlymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies), or phagocytic functions Immunocompromising therapy, including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and postorgan transplant therapy HIV infection	PCV13: 1 dose AND PPV23: 1 dose at least 8 weeks after PCV13 + 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later Multiple doses of vaccines may be given based on condition and recommendation from healthcare provider.	PCV13: 1 dose followed by PPV23 (1 dose) at least 8 weeks later for these conditions: Splenic disorders including Sickle cell disease or other Hemoglobinopathies Congenital immunodeficiency Cancers Immunosuppressive therapy HIV HSCT ² Solid organ transplant



Hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipient¹ Malignant neoplasms, including leukemia and lymphoma Nephrotic syndrome Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient) Immunocompetent adults less than 65 years of age with lifestyle factors at high risk of IPD: Alcoholism Smoking Homelessness Illicit drug use	PPV23 : 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose for the following:
Other (not included in NACI guidelines)	N/A	N/A

- Provincial source groups eligible populations together under "immune-suppressing conditions" and "others" (Nova Scotia Health Authority, 2019).
- Conditions are not separated by non-immunocompromising/ immunocompromising/lifestyle conditions.

¹ NACI recommends that adult HSCT recipients receive 3 doses of PCV13 3–9 months post-transplant and 1 dose of PPV23 12–18 months post-transplant; 1 booster dose of PPV23 is also recommended 1 year later by some experts (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016).

² HSCT recipients considered "never immunized" and require complete re-immunization post transplantation.



Prince Edward Island

TABLE A9. Population and pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for Prince Edward Island compared to 2016 NACI recommendations

	NACI Pneumococcal Vaccine Recommendations (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016) Eligibility of publicly funded vaccine in Prince Edwad Island	
Population	Dose schedule	
Adults aged 65 years and up	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose (Government of Prince Edward Island, 2023)
Adults aged less than 65 years in long-term care facilities	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23 : 1 dose for individuals residing in a long-term care or community care facility (Health PEI, 2017)
Adults with non-immunocompromising conditions such as: Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic heart disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease, including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause Chronic lung disease, including asthma that required medical care in the preceding 12 months	PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster dose at least 5 years later for people at highest risk for IPD PCV13: 1 dose may be given in combination with PPV23 at different intervals based on recommendation from healthcare provider).	PPV23: 1 or 2 doses, depending on condition (PEI Department of Health and Wellness, 2019). Conditions labelled as "Adults without immunocompromise (high risk)" include:
Adults with immunocompromising conditions such as: Sickle cell disease, congenital or acquired asplenia, or splenic dysfunction Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including Blymphocyte (humoral) immunity, Tlymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies), or phagocytic functions Immunocompromising therapy, including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and postorgan transplant therapy HIV infection	PCV13: 1 dose AND PPV23: 1 dose at least 8 weeks after PCV13 + 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later Multiple doses of vaccines may be given based on condition and recommendation from healthcare provider.	 PCV13: 1 dose for conditions at high risk of IPD, followed by 1 dose of PPV23 at least 8 weeks later; one booster dose of PPV23 is eligible at least 5 years later (PEI Department of Health and Wellness, 2019). Immunocompromising conditions include: Asplenia Congenital immunodeficiency Solid organ transplant Immunocompromising therapy: use of long-term corticosteroids (other than by inhalation, topical, or injection into a joint) e.g. oral prednisone for longer than 2 weeks; chemotherapy; radiation therapy; post-organ transplant therapy and certain anti-rheumatic drugs HIV HSCT recipient³ Malignant neoplasms Nephrotic syndrome Sickle cell disease



 Hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipient¹ Malignant neoplasms, including leukemia and lymphoma Nephrotic syndrome Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient) 		 PPV23: 1 or 2 doses, depending on condition followed by 1 dose of PPV23 at least 8 weeks later; one booster dose of PPV23 is eligible at least 5 years later (PEI Department of Health and Wellness, 2019). Conditions labelled below as "adults with immunocompromise (Highest risk)" include: Sickle cell disease or other hemaglobinopathies Congenital immunodeficiency involving any part of the immune system Asplenia (functional or anatomic) Immunocompromising therapy: use of long-term corticosteroids (other than by inhalation, topical, or injection into a joint) e.g. oral prednisone for longer than 2 weeks; chemotherapy; radiation therapy; post-organ transplant therapy and certain anti-rheumatic drugs HIV HSCT recipient³ Malignant neoplasms including leukemia and lymphoma Nephrotic syndrome Solid organ transplant (candidate or recipient)
Immunocompetent adults less than 65 years of age with lifestyle factors at high risk of IPD: • Alcoholism • Smoking • Homelessness • Illicit drug use	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose for those with the following lifestyle factors (Health PEI, 2017): • Homeless • Illicit drug use • Alcoholism • Smoking Some individuals may require a booster 5 years later.
Other (not included in NACI guidelines)	N/A	N/A

¹ NACI recommends that adult HSCT recipients receive 3 doses of PCV13 3–9 months post-transplant and 1 dose of PPV23 12–18 months post-transplant; 1 booster dose of PPV23 is also recommended 1 year later by some experts (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016).

² Provincial source from PEI categorized "chronic liver disease (including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause) and chronic kidney disease/dialysis" under immunocompromising conditions with the highest risk (PEI Department of Health and Wellness, 2019).

³ For adults with HSCT, 3 doses of PCV13 are recommended 4 weeks apart, 3–9 months post-transplant; 1 dose of PPV23 is recommended 6–12 months after last dose of PCV13 (12–18 months post-transplant) (PEI Department of Health and Wellness, 2019).



Newfoundland and Labrador

TABLE A10. Population and pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for Newfoundland and Labrador compared to 2016 NACI recommendations

	NACI Pneumococcal Vaccine Recommendations (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016) Branched Properties (Government of Newfoundland and Labrador, 2019) Covernment of Newfoundland and Labrador, 2019)	
Population	Dose schedule	(Government of Newloundiand and Labrador, 2019)
Adults aged 65 years and up	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose
Adults aged less than 65 years in long-term care facilities	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose
Adults with non-immunocompromising conditions such as: Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic heart disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease, including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause Chronic lung disease, including asthma that required medical care in the preceding 12 months	PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster dose at least 5 years later for people at highest risk for IPD PCV13: 1 dose may be given in combination with PPV23 at different intervals based on recommendation from healthcare provider).	 PPV23: 1 dose for those with the following conditions: All persons receiving or with cochlear implants Chronic cardiac disease Chronic respiratory disease Chronic renal disease Cirrhosis Diabetes mellitus PCV13: 1 dose for all persons receiving or with cochlear implants
Adults with immunocompromising conditions such as: Sickle cell disease, congenital or acquired asplenia, or splenic dysfunction Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including Blymphocyte (humoral) immunity, Tlymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies), or phagocytic functions Immunocompromising therapy, including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and postorgan transplant therapy HIV infection	PCV13: 1 dose AND PPV23: 1 dose at least 8 weeks after PCV13 + 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later Multiple doses of vaccines may be given based on condition and recommendation from healthcare provider.	PCV13: 1 dose for those with the following conditions:



 Hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipient¹ Malignant neoplasms, including leukemia and lymphoma Nephrotic syndrome Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient) Immunocompetent adults less than 65 years 	PPV23 : 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose for the following lifestyle factor:
of age with lifestyle factors at high risk of IPD: • Alcoholism • Smoking • Homelessness • Illicit drug use		Alcoholism
Other (not included in NACI guidelines)	N/A	 Indigenous populations are eligible for the PPV23 vaccine. Other chronic conditions which increase an individual's risk for IPD.

¹ NACI recommends that adult HSCT recipients receive 3 doses of PCV13 3–9 months post-transplant and 1 dose of PPV23 12–18 months post-transplant; 1 booster dose of PPV23 is also recommended 1 year later by some experts (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016).



Yukon

TABLE A11. Population and pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for Yukon compared to 2016 NACI recommendations

NACI Pneumococcal Vaccine R (Public Health Agency of Ca		Eligibility of publicly funded vaccine in Yukon
Population	Dose schedule	(Government of Yukon, 2022)
Adults aged 65 years and up	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose
Adults aged less than 65 years in long-term care facilities	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose, for all residents of extended or intermediate care facilities
Adults with non-immunocompromising conditions such as: Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic heart disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease, including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause Chronic lung disease, including asthma that required medical care in the preceding 12 months	PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster dose at least 5 years later for people at highest risk for IPD PCV13: 1 dose may be given in combination with PPV23 at different intervals based on recommendation from healthcare provider).	PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster for these conditions: Diabetes Chronic CSF leak Chronic liver disease including cirrhosis, chronic hepatitis B, hepatitis C Chronic heart disease Chronic lung disease Cystic Fibrosis Chronic kidney disease Cochlear implant (candidate or recipient)
Adults with immunocompromising conditions such as: Sickle cell disease, congenital or acquired asplenia, or splenic dysfunction Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including Blymphocyte (humoral) immunity, Tlymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies), or phagocytic functions Immunocompromising therapy, including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and postorgan transplant therapy HIV infection	PCV13: 1 dose AND PPV23: 1 dose at least 8 weeks after PCV13 + 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later Multiple doses of vaccines may be given based on condition and recommendation from healthcare provider.	 PCV13: 1 dose for individuals with the following conditions: Asplenia (anatomical or functional) Sickle cell disease or other hemoglobinopathies Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including B-lymphocyte (humoral) immunity, T-lymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin, or factor D deficiencies), or phagocytic functions Immunosuppressive therapy including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, post-organ-transplant therapy, biologic and non-biologic immunosuppressive therapies for rheumatologic and other inflammatory diseases Malignant neoplasms including leukemia and lymphoma Solid organ or islet cell transplant (candidate or recipient) HIV infection



 Hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipient¹ Malignant neoplasms, including leukemia and lymphoma Nephrotic syndrome Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient) 		 PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster after 5 years; a 3rd dose may be administered after age 65 if 2nd dose was given prior to this age for individuals with the following conditions: Anatomic or functional asplenia Sickle cell disease Immunosuppression related to disease (e.g., malignant neoplasm, HIV, multiple myeloma) or therapy (e.g., high dose, systemic or severe rheumatoid arthritis requiring immunosuppressive therapy) Congenital immunodeficiency states (complement system e.g., properdin or factor D deficiency) Receipt of HSCT² Candidate or recipient of organ or islet cell transplant
Immunocompetent adults less than 65 years of age with lifestyle factors at high risk of IPD: • Alcoholism • Smoking • Homelessness • Illicit drug use	PPV23: 1 dose	 PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster after age 65 for individuals with the following lifestyle factors: Alcoholism Homelessness Illicit drug use Cigarette smokers
Other (not included in NACI guidelines)	N/A	N/A

Territorial source from Yukon did not explicitly differentiate between immunocompromising and non-immunocompromising conditions.

¹ NACI recommends that adult HSCT recipients receive 3 doses of PCV13 3–9 months post-transplant and 1 dose of PPV23 12–18 months post-transplant; 1 booster dose of PPV23 is also recommended 1 year later by some experts (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016).

² HSCT recipients ≥ 2 years of age: must follow re-immunization schedule specific to province in which treatment was given and contact Immunization Program Manager (Government of Yukon, 2022).



Northwest Territories

TABLE A12. Population and pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for Northwest Territories compared to 2016 NACI recommendations

NACI Pneumococcal Vaccine Recommendations (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016) Eligibility of publicly funded vaccine in Northwest Te		Eligibility of publicly funded vaccine in Northwest Territories
Population	Dose schedule	
Adults aged 65 years and up	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23 (1 dose) (Government of Northwest Territories, 2023b)
Adults aged less than 65 years in long-term care facilities Adults with non-immunocompromising conditions such as: Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic heart disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease, including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause Chronic lung disease, including asthma that required medical care in the preceding 12 months	PPV23: 1 dose PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster dose at least 5 years later for people at highest risk for IPD PCV13: 1 dose may be given in combination with PPV23 at different intervals based on recommendation from healthcare provider).	 PPV23 (dose not specified) 65 years of age and younger at risk for invasive pneumococcal disease More than one dose of a publicly funded vaccine may be required depending on the type; no information on which vaccines (Government of Northwest Territories, 2023a) PCV13 (dose not specified) Covered for individuals with certain medical conditions as per Canadian Immunization Guide (decided on a case-by-case basis) (Government of Northwest Territories, 2023b)
 Adults with immunocompromising conditions such as: Sickle cell disease, congenital or acquired asplenia, or splenic dysfunction Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including B-lymphocyte (humoral) immunity, T-lymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies), or phagocytic functions Immunocompromising therapy, including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and post-organ transplant therapy HIV infection Hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipient¹ 	PCV13: 1 dose AND PPV23: 1 dose at least 8 weeks after PCV13 + 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later Multiple doses of vaccines may be given based on condition and recommendation from healthcare provider.	



 Malignant neoplasms, including leukemia and lymphoma Nephrotic syndrome Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient) 	
Immunocompetent adults less than 65 years of age with lifestyle factors at high risk of IPD: • Alcoholism • Smoking • Homelessness • Illicit drug use	PPV23: 1 dose
Other (not included in NACI guidelines)	N/A

PCV13 recommended for those 5 years and older with "certain health conditions" (Government of Northwest Territories, 2023a); listed as non-publicly funded but some vaccines on the list may be provided for free depending on health status.

¹ NACI recommends that adult HSCT recipients receive 3 doses of PCV13 3–9 months post-transplant and 1 dose of PPV23 12–18 months post-transplant; 1 booster dose of PPV23 is also recommended 1 year later by some experts (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016).



Nunavut

TABLE A13. Population and pneumococcal vaccine eligibility for Nunavut compared to 2016 NACI recommendations

NACI Pneumococcal Vaccine Recommendations (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016)		Eligibility of publicly funded vaccine in Nunavut	
Population	Dose schedule		
Adults aged 65 years and up	PPV23: 1 dose	PPV23: 1 dose is recommended for adults 50 years and above (Nunavut Department of Health, 2017).	
Adults aged less than 65 years in long-term care facilities	PPV23: 1 dose	N/A	
Adults with non-immunocompromising conditions such as: Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic conditions that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic heart disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease Chronic liver disease, including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause Chronic lung disease, including asthma that required medical care in the preceding 12 months	PPV23: 1 dose + 1 booster dose at least 5 years later for people at highest risk for IPD PCV13: 1 dose may be given in combination with PPV23 at different intervals based on recommendation from healthcare provider).	 PPV23: 1 dose for adults at increased risk who have not previously received the PPV23 vaccine (Nunavut Department of Health, 2014): Chronic CSF leak Chronic neurologic condition that may impair clearance of oral secretions Cochlear implants Chronic cardiac or pulmonary disease Diabetes mellitus Chronic kidney disease, including nephrotic syndrome Chronic liver disease (including hepatic cirrhosis due to any cause) Re-immunization booster dose: An additional (1) booster dose is recommended 5 years later for select high-risk adults. Maximum 2 doses. PPV23: 1 dose for adults at increased risk who have not previously received PPV23 (Nunavut Department of Health, 2014): Asplenia (functional or anatomic) Sickle cell disease or other hemoglobinopathies Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including B-lymphocyte (humoral) immunity, T-lymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (e.g., properdin or factor D deficiencies), or phagocytic functions HSCT recipient HIV infection Immunosuppressive therapy including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, post-organ transplant therapy, and certain antirheumatic drugs Malignant neoplasms including leukemia and lymphoma 	
Adults with immunocompromising conditions such as: • Sickle cell disease, congenital or acquired asplenia, or splenic dysfunction • Congenital immunodeficiencies involving any part of the immune system, including Blymphocyte (humoral) immunity, Tlymphocyte (cell) mediated immunity, complement system (properdin or factor D deficiencies), or phagocytic functions • Immunocompromising therapy, including use of long-term corticosteroids, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and postorgan transplant therapy	PCV13: 1 dose AND PPV23: 1 dose at least 8 weeks after PCV13 + 1 booster dose of PPV23 at least 5 years later Multiple doses of vaccines may be given based on condition and recommendation from healthcare provider.		



 HIV infection Hematopoietic stem cell transplant (HSCT) recipient¹ Malignant neoplasms, including leukemia and lymphoma Nephrotic syndrome Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient) 		Solid organ or islet transplant (candidate or recipient)
Immunocompetent adults less than 65 years of age with lifestyle factors at high risk of IPD: • Alcoholism • Smoking • Homelessness • Illicit drug use	PPV23: 1 dose	N/A
Other (not included in NACI guidelines)	N/A	Pregnant and breastfeeding women may be eligible for pneumococcal vaccines if they have underlying medical conditions that put them at high risk of invasive pneumococcal disease (Nunavut Department of Health, 2018)

¹ NACI recommends that adult HSCT recipients receive 3 doses of PCV13 3–9 months post-transplant and 1 dose of PPV23 12–18 months post-transplant; 1 booster dose of PPV23 is also recommended 1 year later by some experts (Public Health Agency of Canada, 2016).



Appendix B. Monitoring and Surveillance of Pneumococcal Vaccines

 TABLE B1. Pneumococcal vaccine monitoring in British Columbia, Alberta, Ontario, and Quebec

- W			
British Columbia	Alberta	Ontario	Quebec
The Provincial Public Health Information System is a compilation of more than 10 systems, which include a central public health information system (Panorama) (Provincial Health Services Authority, n.d.).	Health practitioners are required to upload all immunization records (including pneumococcal vaccines) for patients into the Alberta vaccine registry (Imm/ARI) (Alberta Health Services, 2022).	Public Health Ontario manages the provincial surveillance of school- based immunization coverage. However, public information	The electronic database (Panorama: Quebec Vaccine Registry) is used by health professionals and public health authorities to track outbreaks of vaccine-preventable diseases, access vaccination history, communicate potential recalls of vaccine batches, and monitor vaccination programs
The Provincial Public Health Information System works collaboratively with the Ministry of Health, Regional Health Authorities, First Nation Health Authority and Yukon Territory (Provincial Health Services Authority, n.d.):	"Immunization data is analyzed provincially and used to assess the efficacy of provincially funded vaccines and to analyze the immunization programs. Non identifiable summary data is forwarded to Health Canada and included in the national summary	regarding adult vaccine coverage was not found (Public Health Ontario, n.d.).	 (Government of Québec, 2023b). Mandatory registration for all people who received vaccines in Quebec and Quebec residents who received vaccines out of the province (Government of Québec, 2020). Information collected includes: name, date of birth, gender, health insurance number, home address, other vaccines received
Immunization registries enable provincial immunization coverage	data used for analysis of immunization programs" (Alberta Health, 2022).		and contraindications; record of all vaccinations, including those not publicly funded.
surveillance, immunization decision support, physician access to records, citizen access to immunization records, and provincial readiness to manage outbreaks of vaccine-	Adult vaccine coverage data is only publicly reported for COVID-19 and influenza; adult pneumococcal vaccine coverage data is not publicly reported (J. Kellner, personal communication,		Vaccination coverage is measured for pneumococcal vaccination in the elderly and high- risk groups and is publicly available on provincial sources (Santé et Services Sociaux Québec, 2023b).
No information was found regarding adult pneumococcal vaccine monitoring/uptake with an equity-focused lens (i.e., no disaggregation of vaccine coverage data based on factors such as rural vs. urban, regional, socioeconomic status etc.)	 August 18, 2023). No information was found regarding adult pneumococcal vaccine monitoring/uptake with an equity-focused lens (i.e., no disaggregation of vaccine uptake data based on factors such as rural vs. urban, regional, socioeconomic status etc.) 		Series of reports based on population surveys for influenza, pneumococcal, and shingles vaccine coverage conducted every 2 years (publicly available in French) (Trottier & Dubé, 2022). 2/12/2024 1:01:00 PM2024-02-12 1:01:00 PM
			 Main objectives at the provincial level: Estimate lifetime vaccination coverage against pneumococcal disease and its determinants among individuals aged 65+ and people living with one or more chronic diseases; Describe knowledge, attitude, and behaviours related to vaccination.



	 Secondary objectives: Estimate lifetime pneumococcal vaccination coverage in individuals aged 65 and over, aged 50 and over with asthma that receive regular medical follow-up, and with chronic diseases; Estimate the time of the last pneumococcal dose received in the targeted groups; Determine th main reason for vaccination or non-vaccinatio against pneumococcal disease, at the provincial level, for persons aged 65 years an older and those one or more chronic diseases aged 18–64 years (those with asthma betwee ages 18 and 49 will be excluded). Data on target populations under the pneumococcal vaccination program (individuals aged 65 and over, under 64 years of age at increased risk of IPD, and 50 and over with asthma severe enough to require regular medical follow-up or hospital care) is disaggregated by factors such as gender, age group, seasonal influenza vaccination status, recommendation from healthcare professiona and reasons for pneumococcal vaccination or non-vaccination. Sociodemographic data for survey respondents based on region, language spoken, education, and household composition is recorded, but this information is net available in
	information is not available in pneumococcal vaccine coverage sections.2024-02-12 1:01:00 PM



www. NAO health observatory. com



naobservatory@utoronto.ca



nao_health